Filed 10-01-2021

Page 1 of 11

FILED 10-01-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP001450 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY S. CLEMONS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Barron County Circuit Court, Judge James C. Babler

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

RENEE M. TABER Attorney State Bar No. 1103475

Taber Law Firm, LLC Post Office Box 610 Luck, WI 54853 715-450-4034 renee@taberlawfirm.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT
I. There was insufficient evidence at trial to convict Clemons of Obstructing an Officer
A. Standard of Review7
B. Applicable Law
C. The State did not prove by clear, satisfactory, and convincing evidence that Clemons obstructed Deputy Fick
CONCLUSION10
CERTIFICATION11

TABLE OF AUTHORITES

Wisconsin Statutes

Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1)7
Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2)7
County Ordinance
Barron County Ordinance No. 9.164
Case Law
<i>City of Milwaukee v. Wilson,</i> 96 Wis.2d 11, 21, 291 N.W.2d 452 (1980)7
State v. Booker, 2006 WI 79, ¶ 12, 292 Wis.2d 43, 717 N.W.2d 6767

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Did the circuit court err when it found by clear and convincing evidence that Clemons obstructed an officer by knowingly providing false information to obstruct his investigation?

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant does not request that the opinion in this appeal be published as he is aware that as a single judge appeal, it is ineligible for publication under this Court's operating procedures.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-appellant does not request oral argument of the issue presented in this case but stands ready to provide if this Court believes that oral argument would be useful in the exposition of the legal arguments presented herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction from the Circuit Court of Barron County, Hon. James C. Babler presiding. Clemons was convicted of violating Barron County Ordinance No. 9.16, Obstructing an Officer. (R. 37; App. 4)) Clemons asserts that the judgment was not supported by clear, satisfactory, and convincing evidence of guilt.

On June 5, 2019, Clemons went to the Barron County Sheriff's Office and reported a restraining order violation because Lindsey Lundequam and Johanna Survila (mother and daughter) followed him while he was driving his recently purchased motorcycle. (27:19-20) Deputy Fick reported that Clemons told him he purchased the motorcycle at Eau Claire Harley that day and had driven it from Eau Claire directly to Barron County Sheriff's Office. (27:21) The motorcycle had 56 miles on it. (28)

After an investigation, Deputy Fick determined Lundequam and Survila's story could not have occurred based on Clemons' statements to him that he purchased his motorcycle from Eau Claire. (27:22-26; 60:32-33) Lundequam and Survila were both cited with obstructing. (27:26)

Lundequam and Survila's court trial was held on September 10, 2019. (R. 27; App. 32-61) Clemons testified that on June 5, 2019, he purchased a motorcycle from Rice Lake Harley, drove around, took his girlfriend to Chetek and was coming back through Rice Lake when Lundequam and Survila followed him and pinned him down. (27:10-12, 14-17) Clemons called the sheriff's office and had the dispatch on speaker phone while driving to the sheriff's office because he "didn't know if they were going to try to run me over or what." (27:16) Clemons' testified he was going to the sheriff's office to report a restraining order violation since he had a restraining order against Lundequam. (27:15)

Deputy Fick testified that Clemons "advised me he bought it from the Eau Claire Harley. I know the city of Eau Claire does not have a Harley shop. But The Lake Hallie Harley Shop is adjacent to the Eau Claire/Lake Hallie border." (27:21) He testified that he then "[d]id a Google Maps search of routes from Lake Hallie Harley-Davidson Shop to the sheriff's office, routing that it would have had to have taken Highway 25. It showed it was roughly 52 miles from Lake Hallie to the sheriff's office." (27:21) He then testified that "when I had MapQuested, there was multiple routes. And the one that I believed to be accurate, based on Mr. Clemons' statement, showed 52 miles." (27:25)

The State dismissed the citations against Lundequam and Survila because Clemons testimony was inconsistent with what Deputy Fick testified Clemons told him on the date of the incident. (27:28)

The following day, September 11, 2019, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Clemons with one count of obstructing an officer. (R. 1) An adjourned initial appearance was held on September 25, 2019, after Attorney Matthew Kirkpatrick was appointed by the court to represent Clemons. (R. 56) At a subsequent hearing on November 27, 2019, the State amended the charge to an ordinance, and Attorney Kirkpatrick indicated he would file a motion to withdraw as Clemons would no longer be entitled to court-appointed representation. (57:2-3) The court set a court trial for January 21, 2020. (57:3)

Filed 10-01-2021

Page 6 of 11

On January 21, 2020, Clemons requested an adjournment since he had not received discovery from Attorney Kirkpatrick. (58:8) The court granted a continuance. (Id.) On May 15, 2020, the court held a motion hearing, and then trial was set for August 5, 2020. (R. 59; App. 15-174) At the motion hearing, Clemons repeatedly indicated that he still did not have all of the discovery to include the "statement that was given to Emmons" and the 911 call. (59:3) The prosecutor indicated that Clemons received discovery from his office which "included the police reports from the initial incident." (59:5) He told the court that if Clemons wanted additional information, he would need to obtain it on his own. (59:6)

On August 5, 2020, Deputy Fick and Clemons testified. (R. 60; App. 63-158) Clemons testified that he wrote a statement consistent with his testimony and gave it to Mr. Emmons. (60:11, 32, 54) This statement was introduced by the state as Exhibit 5. (R. 32: App. 6) He indicated that the two women were "chasing" him in violation of the harassment order he has against them. (60:11) Clemons spoke with other officers at the sheriff's department in addition to Deputy Fick. (60:12)

However, Clemons admitted that he may have told him Eau Claire "by a mistake." (60:22, 74) At the previous court trial on September 10, 2019, Clemons testified "I think, I told them that I bought the bike in Eau Claire because I was so startled, but – I think I remember saying something like that because I was just – I mean, I was practically shaking." (27:17)

Clemons repeatedly testified that Deputy Fick not only saw the purchase papers from Rice Lake Harley on the day of the incident, but also took a picture of them. (60:22, 23) Deputy Fick further testified that he never saw any purchase papers or Clemons' written statement prior to the day of trial. (60:35-36) The written statement and purchase paperwork was admitted into evidence as Exhibits 5, 6, and 8. (R. 32, 33, 36; App. 6-31)

Deputy Fick testified that Clemons told him "he purchased it from Eau Claire and driven directly here. And his only detour was when he was being

followed by" Lundequam and Survila, which was "a side street off of Hillsdale there on Highway 25." (60:30) However, Deputy Fick never consulted with Clemons regarding the route he took. (60:24, 25, 45-47)

The second half of the trial took place on August 18, 2020, at which time, both Deputy Fick and Clemons, testified again consistent with their testimony at the court trial on September 10, 2019. (61)

ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE COURT TO FIND CLEMONS OBSTRUCTED AN OFFICER.

A. Standard of Review.

In considering the sufficiency of the evidence, the Court of Appeals "task as a reviewing court is limited to determining whether the evidence presented could have convinced a trier of fact, acting reasonably, that the appropriate burden of proof had been met." *City of Milwaukee v. Wilson,* 96 Wis.2d 11, 21, 291 N.W.2d 452 (1980).

Whether the evidence presented at trial is sufficient to support the conviction is a question of law the Court reviews de novo, *see State v. Booker*, 2006 WI 79, ¶ 12, 292 Wis.2d 43, 717 N.W.2d 676. However, the circuit court's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous, WIS. STAT. § 805.17(2).

B. Applicable Law.

Barron County's ordinance of obstructing is analogous to its criminal counterpart, Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1). Thus, it requires clear, satisfactory, and convincing evidence that:

The defendant obstructed an officer.
 To obstruct an officer means that the conduct of the defendant prevents or makes more difficult the performance of the officer's duties.
 The officer was doing an act in an official capacity.
 The officer was acting with lawful authority.

4. The defendant knew that (officer) was an officer acting in an official capacity and with lawful authority and that the defendant knew (his) (her) conduct would obstruct the officer.

WIS JI-Criminal 1766 Obstructing An Officer —946.41(1) (Wisconsin Jury Instructions - Criminal (2020))

C. The State did not prove by clear, satisfactory, and convincing evidence that Clemons obstructed Deputy Fick.

The crux of the issue at the court trials was whether Clemons told Deputy Fick that he purchased his motorcycle at Eau Claire Harley in attempt to intentionally obstruct Deputy Fick's investigation into Clemons' claim that Lundequam and Survila were in violation of a harassment restraining order. When taking all of the testimony and evidence into consideration, this simply does not make sense.

Clemons initially testified at Lundequam and Survila's court trial on September 10, 2019, that on June 5, 2019, he purchased a motorcycle at Rice Lake Harley. Afterwards, he took his girlfriend for a ride and ended up dropping her off at work. On his way back, Lundequam and Survila started following him and pinning him down. He was terrified and called 911. He stayed on the phone with dispatch until he arrived at the Barron County Sheriff's Office.

Deputy Fick testified that while he was investigating Clemons' claim that Lundequam and Survila violated the harassment restraining order, Clemons told him at least two times that he purchased his Harley in Eau Claire. Deputy Fick corrected Clemons and told him it had to have been Lake Hallie Harley since Eau Claire does not have its own Harley dealership. Deputy Fick testified that Clemons only showed him the registration paper, which indicated that he purchased the motorcycle that day. Clemons testified that he showed all his paperwork, which clearly indicates he purchased the motorcycle at "Rice Lake Harley." Since Clemons had just purchased the motorcycle that morning, it doesn't make sense

Page 9 of 11

that Clemons would only show him the registration paper and not the whole file folder that Clemons testified to.

Clemons also had his written statement, dated June 6, 2019, admitted into evidence. That written statement is consistent with his testimony. He testified that he turned that statement into Mr. Emmons who he believed was the investigator on the case. However, Deputy Fick testified that he never saw Clemons' written statement. Months prior to the trial, at the motion hearing on May 15, 2020, Clemons told the court and district attorney that "they have withheld the statement that was given to Emmons." This corroborates Clemons testimony at both trials that his testimony was consistent with his statement dated June 6, 2019.

Clemons admitted that he may have mistakenly said Eau Claire Harley due to the stress he was under when he first arrived at the sheriff's office. However, Deputy Fick also testified that he used Google maps to find the route that Clemons would have used albeit he never actually consulted with Clemons on the route that he took. Deputy Fick never contacted Clemons and said he was waiting on Clemons to turn in his statement and purchase papers.

According to Clemons testimony and Exhibits 5 and 6, which were the purchase paperwork and his written statement, he did turn over those documents to law enforcement. Deputy Fick testified he never saw them, yet he never contacted Clemons to verify the route he allegedly took or to verify any other information.

Specifically with Element 4, the state (or county, since the criminal charge was reduced to an ordinance) had to prove that "the defendant knew (his) (her) conduct would obstruct the officer." Clemons testified that he may have mistakenly said Eau Claire, but Clemons testimony, the purchase papers, and written statement dated June 6, 2019, both clearly support that he meant to say Rice Lake Harley. There is nothing in the record to support that Clemons *knew* his conduct would obstruct the officer's investigation.

The circuit court committed clear error in finding the material testimony of Deputy Fick to be more credible than the material testimony of Clemons, and that

findings that properly credited Clemons' testimony and supporting documents would have compelled a ruling that he was not guilty.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals should reverse the decision of the circuit court and remand this matter with directions to dismiss the ordinance conviction against Clemons.