Filed 11-24-2021

Page 1 of 10

FILED 11-24-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP001450CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
v.

JEFFREY S. CLEMONS, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN BARRON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES C. BABLER PRESIDING

# BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRIAN H. WRIGHT Barron County District Attorney State Bar No.: 1021130 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Barron County District Attorney's Office 1420 State Hwy 25 N. Barron, WI 54812 (715)537-6220 (715)537-6155 (Fax) Brian.Wright@da.wi.gov

#

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Is the evidence adduced at defendant-appellant's court trial sufficient to sustain the circuit court's finding that the defendantappellant violated Barron County Ordinance 9.16, Obstructing an Officer?

# STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The plaintiff-respondent does not request that the opinion in this appeal be published.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The plaintiff-respondent does not request oral argument of the issue presented in this case.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2019, the defendant-appellant, (hereafter "Clemons"), drove to the Barron County Sheriff's Department to report a restraining order violation. (R. 27:15). Clemons was driving a newly purchased motorcycle. (R. 27:20).

Deputy Jon Fick, with the Barron County Sheriff's Department, was on duty on June 5, 2019 at approximately 5:54 PM, and spoke with three individuals who he identified as Clemons, Johanna Survila, and Lindsey Lundequam. (R. 27:19). Deputy Fick met with Clemons, Survila and Lundequam at the sheriff's office. (R. 27:20).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State generally cites to the document number assigned to each relevant document in the case index for the appeal. The citation "R" refers to the document number in the case index for the appeal.

Clemons informed Deputy Fick that he just purchased a new Harley earlier that day from Eau Claire Harley and that he had driven the motorcycle directly from Eau Claire to the sheriff's office. (R. 27:20-21). Clemons testified he told Deputy Fick that he was driving northbound on Hwy. 25 when Lundequam turned around and started following him. (R. 27:15). Clemons testified that Survila and Lundequam followed him to the sheriff's department. (R. 27:16). Clemons testified that Deputy Fick was in uniform, and that he believed Deputy Fick was a law enforcement officer who was investigating what happened. (R. 27:16).

Lundequam told Deputy Fick that she was traveling southbound on Hwy. 25, when she saw Clemons driving northbound on Hwy. 25. (R. 27:3-4). Lundequam told Deputy Fick she noticed Clemons behind her approximately 30 seconds after she saw him driving in the opposite lane of travel on Hwy. 25 and that he began to follow her. (R. 27:4). Lundequam told Deputy Fick that her daughter, Survila, was traveling in a separate vehicle ahead of her and that Clemons followed Lundequam all the way to Hillsdale. (R. 27:5). Lundequam told Deputy Fick that she and her daughter pulled over in Hillsdale. (R. 27:6). Survila told Deputy Fick a similar account of Clemons following them to Hillsdale. (R. 27:8-9).

At the sheriff's department, Clemons showed Deputy Fick the miles on his motorcycle to corroborate what he said happened and that he didn't go back and forth as Lundequam and Survila said he did. (R. 27:17-18). Deputy Fick observed and photographed the odometer reading on Clemons' motorcycle, which showed 56 miles. (R. 27:21); (R. 28). Deputy Fick then spent several hours following up on the information he

Case 2020AP001450 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-24-2021 Page 5 of 10

was provided, using Google Maps to search routes from the Lake Hallie Harley-Davidson Shop, which Deputy Fick knew was adjacent to the Eau Claire/Lake Hallie border, and a route that would place Clemons on Hwy. 25, and then to the sheriff's office. (R. 27:21, 25).

Deputy Fick marked out, physically drove and double-checked the additional mileage that, had Clemons turned around as Lundequam and Survila told him, Clemons would have driven. (R. 27:25-26). Deputy Fick determined it was impossible for Clemons to have turned around and followed Lundequam as Lundequam and Survila said he did, based on the information Clemons provided him and the speedometer reading on Clemons' motorcycle. (R. 27:26). Deputy Fick referred his report to the District Attorney's office and citations were subsequently issued to Lundequam and Survila. (R. 27:26).

At the court trial for Lundequam and Survila, Clemons testified that he purchased his motorcycle from Rice Lake Harley, and that he drove it to various places in Barron County. (R. 27:10-12). Deputy Fick testified that Clemons' testimony at Lundequam's and Survila's court trial was the first time he heard Clemons state that he purchased his motorcycle from Rice Lake Harley, and that his testimony at the court trial was very different than what Clemons told him on June 5, 2019. (R. 27:27-28).

The State filed a criminal complaint charging Clemons with one count of obstructing an officer. (R. 1). The State later amended the criminal charge to an ordinance violation for obstructing an officer, contrary to Section 9.16 of the Barron County Code of Ordinances. (R. 57).

Clemons contested the citation and a court trial was held on August 5, 2020 and August 18, 2020, the Honorable James C. Babler presiding. (R. 60-61). Clemons testified and cross examined Deputy Fick on both days that the court trial was held. (R. 60-61).

At his court trial, Clemons testified that he told Deputy Fick he purchased the motorcycle in Rice Lake and showed Deputy Fick paperwork that he said proved he purchased the motorcycle in Rice Lake. (R. 61:24-25); (R. 36). Deputy Fick testified that the only paperwork Clemons provided him was a single yellow piece of paper. (R. 61:35). Deputy Fick testified that the single document he observed did not contain any identifying information about where Clemons purchased the motorcycle. (R. 61:35).

Deputy Fick testified that he asked Clemons to provide him with documentation about where he had purchased the motorcycle. (R. 61:35-36). Deputy Fick testified that he maintained and reviewed the sheriff's department's case file for the obstructing case against Clemons and no documents identifying the motorcycle as having been purchased in Rice Lake were contained in the case file. (R. 61:36).

Deputy Fick testified that Clemons informed him on more than three occasions that he purchased the motorcycle at Eau Claire Harley. (R. 61:37). Deputy Fick testified that he told Clemons there is no Eau Claire Harley. (R. 61:36). Deputy Fick testified that at no point when he advised Clemons it wasn't Eau Claire Harley, but Lake Hallie Harley, did Clemons say he purchased the motorcycle in Rice Lake. (R. 61:37). Deputy Fick testified that the first time he heard Rice Lake Harley was when Clemons testified at Lundequam's and Survila's court trial. (R. 61:37).

In his decision, Judge Babler made the specific finding that he found the testimony of Deputy Fick more credible than the testimony of Clemons. (R. 61:62). Judge Babler then discussed the reasons why he found Deputy Fick's testimony more credible. (R. 61:62-63).

# **ARGUMENT**

I. COURT'S DECISION IS THE NOT CIRCUIT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND IS SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE THAT **ESTABLISHES**  $\mathbf{BY}$ CLEAR. SATISFACTORY ANDCONVINCING THE**DEFENDANT-EVIDENCE** THAT APPELLANT VIOLATED SECTION 9.16 OF THE BARRON COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES.

On review of a factual determination made by a trial court without a jury, and in cases which apply the "great weight and clear preponderance" test, the standard of review is essentially the same. Noll v. Dimiceli's Inc., 115 Wis.2d 641, 643, 340 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1983) (citation omitted). An appellate court will not reverse unless the finding is clearly erroneous. Id. The Wisconsin Supreme Court explained the application of this test as follows:

The evidence supporting the findings of the trial court need not itself constitute the great weight or clear preponderance of the evidence; nor is reversal required if there is evidence to support a contrary finding. Rather, to command a reversal, such evidence in support of a contrary finding must itself constitute the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence.

Cogswell v. Robertshaw Controls Co., 87 Wis.2d 243, 249-50, 274 N.W.2d 647 (1979).

Additionally, when the trial judge acts as the finder of fact, and where there is conflicting testimony, the trial judge is the ultimate arbiter of the credibility of the witnesses. Id. at 250.

Clemons does not argue that the false information he provided to Deputy Fick about where he purchased the motorcycle made it more difficult for Deputy Fick to perform his duties, or that Deputy Fick was acting in an official capacity and with lawful authority. The crux of Clemons' argument is that the evidence adduced at the court trial was insufficient to sustain the circuit court's finding that Clemons violated Section 9.16 of the Barron County Code of Ordinances.

The State respectfully disagrees with Clemons' argument that it did not prove by clear, satisfactory, and convincing evidence that he obstructed Deputy Fick. The State did meet its burden of proof before the circuit court which heard all of the testimony and evidence. The circuit court heard conflicting testimony and made the specific finding that the testimony of Deputy Fick was more credible than that of Clemons.

The circuit court's decision is supported by the testimony of Deputy Fick, who testified that Clemons never told him that he purchased the motorcycle in Rice Lake on any of the more than three occasions when Clemons stated he purchased the motorcycle at Eau Claire Harley. Furthermore, Deputy Fick testified that Clemons never provided him with documents showing where he purchased the motorcycle. On the day Clemons drove to the sheriff's department to report the restraining order violation, he showed Deputy Fick the odometer reading on his motorcycle to corroborate his version of what happened over what Lundequam and Survila said happened.

Clemons testified that he may have mistakenly told Deputy Fick that he purchased the motorcycle at Eau Claire Harley. The credibility of that explanation was properly within the circuit court's purview to decide. If believed, that explanation could have supported a contrary Case 2020AP001450 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-24-2021 Page 9 of 10

finding. However, the circuit court was not bound to accept Clemons' explanation simply because he testified that he may have mistakenly told Deputy Fick where he purchased the motorcycle.

There is sufficient evidence in the record to support the circuit court's rejection of that explanation. The circuit court's decision that Clemons intentionally obstructed Deputy Fick by providing false information about where he purchased his motorcycle in order to convince Deputy Fick that Lundequam had violated the restraining order he had against her, and not the other way around, was not clearly erroneous.

# CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals should uphold the decision of the circuit court.